Prospects for Biological Control of Barberry *Berberis* spp. (Berberidaceae)

Peter G. McGregor

Landcare Research Private Bag 11 052, Palmerston North New Zealand

Landcare Research Contract Report: LC0102/068

PREPARED FOR: Environment Southland horizons.mw

DATE: March 2002



Reviewed by:

Approved for release by:

Jon Sullivan Scientist Landcare Research Phil Cowan Science Manager Biosecurity and Pest Management

© Landcare Research New Zealand Ltd 2002

No part of this work covered by copyright may be reproduced or copied in any form or by any means (graphic, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, taping, information retrieval systems, or otherwise) without the written permission of the publisher, Environment Southland and horizons.mw.

Disclaimer

The findings in this report are specific to this project. Landcare Research accepts no responsibility where information in the report is used for any other purpose, and will not be liable for any loss or damage suffered as a result of such other use.

Contents

Sumi	nary	5
1.	Introduction7	
2.	Objectives7	
3.	Sources of Information	
4.	Main Findings7	
	4.1	Distribution, weed status and current control of barberry in New Zealand7
	4.2	Taxonomic status of <i>Berberis</i> and its relatives in New Zealand10
	4.3	Steps necessary for a biological control programme for barberry10
	4.4	Potential agents for biological control of barberry12
	4.5	Prospects for achieving successful biological control of barberry13
5.	Conclusions14	
6.	Recommendations	
7.	Acknowledgements	
8.	References	

Summary

Project and Client

Landcare Research, Palmerston North, investigated the feasibility of biological control of barberry (*Berberis* spp.) in New Zealand for Environment Southland and horizons.mw in November 2001.

Objectives

- Record the distribution and weed status of barberry in New Zealand.
- Summarise the literature and information on the current worldwide status of biological control of barberry.
- Assess the likelihood of success of a biological control programme for barberry in New Zealand and review the steps necessary to implement such a programme.
- Propose a realistically costed programme for implementation of a biological control programme by Environment Southland, horizons.mw and other affected councils.

Main Findings

- Of the five adventive species of *Berberis* in New Zealand, *B. darwinii* (Darwin's barberry) and *B. glaucocarpa* (barberry) are important weeds. *B. darwinii* is spreading faster than *B. glaucocarpa*, which has occupied much of its potential range.
- *Berberis darwinii* and *B. glaucocarpa* invade laxly grazed pasture, open scrub and bush and can establish under a mature forest canopy. They reduce amenity values, can form impenetrable thickets, and can prevent the establishment of other plants.
- Both species produce large crops of palatable fruit, which are dispersed by birds and possums.
- There are no indigenous plant species closely related to *Berberis*, and only one adventive genus in Berberidaceae. In New Zealand there are no species closely related to *Berberis* that are economically or culturally important. Some species of *Berberis* are grown for ornamental purposes, and some of these are potentially invasive weeds.
- Many fungi and invertebrates are recorded from *Berberis* spp.; some of these cause significant damage and may have potential value for biological control, but for most, little or nothing is known about their biology and host specificity.
- Surveys for prospective agents would have to be carried out in southern South America for *B. darwinii* and the western Himalaya for *B. glaucocarpa*.

Conclusions

- Prospects for a biological control programme directed at *B. darwinii* and *B. glaucocarpa* appear good.
- There are no indigenous Berberidaceae in New Zealand and no important exotic members of the family, so that prospective agents need not be restricted to attacking only the adventive species of *Berberis*.

- Several fungi and invertebrate species are known to attack *Berberis* species and some of these cause significant damage to the plant; furthermore, since *Berberis* is a large genus the prospects for locating biological control agents are good.
- Classical biological control and mycoherbicides are both likely prospects.

Recommendations

- Survey populations of *B. darwinii* and *B. glaucocarpa* in different seasons throughout the species' known ranges in New Zealand to determine which invertebrates and diseases are currently associated with these species in New Zealand (\$50,000 in total over 2 years);
- Survey *B. darwinii* and other *Berberis* species in Chile and Argentina to identify prospective biological control agents (\$50,000 in total over 2 years);
- Survey *B. glaucocarpa* and other *Berberis* species in the western Himalaya to identify prospective biological control agents (\$50,000 in total over 2 years);
- On completion of each overseas survey, review the prospects for successful biological control of that species and, if appropriate, prepare a costed programme for consideration by affected regional councils and DOC.

1. Introduction

Two of the five adventive species of barberry (*Berberis* spp.) in New Zealand are important environmental weeds, for which current control options are not adequate. Consequently, Landcare Research, Palmerston North, investigated the feasibility of biological control of barberry (*Berberis* spp.) in New Zealand for Environment Southland and horizons.mw in November 2001.

2. Objectives

- Record the distribution and weed status of barberry in New Zealand.
- Summarise the literature and information on the current worldwide status of biological control of barberry.
- Assess the likelihood of success of a biological control programme for barberry in New Zealand and review the steps necessary to implement such a programme.
- Propose a realistically costed programme for implementation of a biological control programme by Environment Southland, horizons.mw and other affected councils.

3. Sources of Information

Information for this report was obtained by searching computer databases (CAB Abstracts, Current Contents, Agricola, New Zealand Science) and internet sites for information on barberry; by cross-referencing known references; and from:

Chris Buddenhagen, Department of Conservation, Wellington; Keith Crothers, Environment Southland, Invercargill; Paul Hatton, horizons.mw, Wanganui; Murray Nieuwenhuyse, Department of Conservation, Invercargill.

4. Main Findings

4.1 Distribution, weed status and current control of barberry in New Zealand

Distribution

Of the five species of *Berberis* naturalised in New Zealand, two have very limited distributions. These are *B. soulieana*, with a small population at Trentham in the Hutt Valley, and *B. wilsoniae*, known in the North Island from Te Karaka in Poverty Bay and in the South Island from Culverden in North Canterbury and Macandrew Bay in Dunedin (Webb et al.

1988). The three remaining naturalised species are *B. darwinii* (Darwin's barberry), *B. glaucocarpa* (barberry) and *B. vulgaris* (European barberry).

Berberis darwinii is endemic to south-western South America (Landrum 1999). It is widely distributed in New Zealand, from the East Cape/Te Urewera region south. Its distribution is mostly patchy in Taranaki, the King Country and the Manawatu-Wanganui region, but it is locally common in the Wairarapa and Wellington regions and widespread in and around Wellington City, where it is an important environmental problem (Oates 1998; Wellington Regional Council 2001; C. Buddenhagen, DOC, pers. comm.; P. Hatton, horizons.mw, pers. comm.). In the South Island it occurs patchily in Northwest Nelson/Buller and Canterbury, but is common from central Canterbury south throughout Otago and Southland and is abundant around Halfmoon Bay on Stewart Island; its eradication from Stewart Island is planned (Roy et al. 1998; C. Buddenhagen, DOC, pers. comm.; K. Crothers, Environment Southland, pers. comm.; M. Nieuwenhuyse, DOC, pers. comm.). As its invasive potential becomes better publicised, further large infestations are likely to be identified (K. Crothers, Environment Southland, pers. comm.).

B. glaucocarpa, from the western Himalaya, is common throughout lowland areas of New Zealand, particularly higher rainfall areas, as far south as Canterbury and Westland (Roy et al. 1998; Webb et al. 1988). It probably naturalised earlier than *B. darwinii* (first record 1916 *cf.* 1946), and perhaps for this reason occupies a greater proportion of its potential range than does *B. darwinii*, which is still spreading (Anon. 2001; Webb et al. 1988).

B. vulgaris has a more restricted distribution than either *B. darwinii* or *B. glaucocarpa*, being found predominantly in inland areas of Canterbury and Otago. Although first recorded in the the wild in New Zealand some 40 years before any other species of barberry, it appears far less invasive than *B. darwinii* and *B. glaucocarpa*; its propensity to disperse seems to be more limited than that of those species (Roy et al. 1998; Webb et al. 1988).

Weed status

Only *B. darwinii* and *B. glaucocarpa* are important environmental weeds, and this is reflected in the inclusion of *B. glaucocarpa* as a national surveillance plant pest (Vervoort & Hennessy 1997) and *B. darwinii* in the National Pest Plant Accord list (MAF 2001).

The invasive characteristic of these species arises mainly from their production of large numbers of fruits, which are eaten and subsequently dispersed by birds and possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*) (Allen & Wilson 1992; Williams & Karl 1996; Williams et al. 2000).

Both species are serious threats primarily to sparsely-vegetated areas of bush and scrub. However, seedlings of both species tolerate shade and can invade native forests, with *B. darwinii* more invasive in these situations than *B. glaucocarpa*. *B. darwinii*'s ability to compete in mature forest is also enhanced by its plasticity of growth form: in open areas it often grows as a dense shrub 3–4 m tall and 3–6 m wide, but under a forest canopy may reach 10 m tall with branches spreading up to 15 m, supported by the branches of other trees (Allen & Wilson 1992). Neither species is an important problem in well-managed pasture, but where grazing intensity is low they can form extensive thickets that reduce pasture production and impede access by stock and vehicles (Anon 2001; K Crothers, Environment Southland, pers. comm.; Wellington Regional Council 2001).

Darwin's barberry prevents the establishment of other plants, and in this respect has been considered worse than gorse (*Ulex europaeus*) (Wellington Regional Council 2001). Other species of *Berberis* may have similar characteristics, as *B. thunbergii* has strong allelopathic activity (Itani et al. 1998).

Other species and cultivars of *Berberis* are commonly grown as ornamentals, including *B. thunbergii*, known overseas as Japanese barberry. This species is recognised as a significant invasive weed in the USA (Anon. 1999; Ehrenfeld 1997) and has the potential to be the same in New Zealand.

Species of *Berberis* in New Zealand are also alternative hosts for many pests of economically important crops (see section 4.4).

In New Zealand, barberry species have two main useful characteristics. First, they have been used as hedge plants, and second, they are cultivated for ornamental purposes. Overseas, however, *Berberis* species have been used extensively for medicinal purposes, primarily for treating infections and for diseases and disorders of the liver and heart. For example, barberry extracts have been used for over 3000 years in Ayurvedic (Indian) and Chinese medicine (Birdsall & Kelly 1997). The value of these traditional medicines has been confirmed by numerous recent studies, which have disclosed additional uses in the treatment of such diseases as malaria and some cancers (e.g., McCall et al. 1994; Liu et al. 1995; Karimov 1993; Sheng et al. 1997)

Current control methods

The primary method of control used in New Zealand is to cut the plant down and paint the cut stump with herbicide. Vigilant (5% picloram gel formulation) is a highly effective treatment for applying to cut stumps (HortResearch 2002a; C. Buddenhagen, DOC, pers. comm.), but is more expensive than other cut stump treatments such as glyphosate, Tordon Brushkiller or Grazon (K. Crothers, Environment Southland). However, glyphosate applied as a cut stump treatment does not always effectively control the deep-rooted *B. darwinii* (Ward et al. 1999). All "cut-and-swab" treatments are labour intensive and are therefore unsuitable for large infestations; thus, the method is clearly not sufficient for controlling the Manawatu-Wanganui region's *B. glaucocarpa* infestation, which occurs over an estimated 10,600 ha (Anon. 2001).

Chemical control of *B. glaucocarpa* in forestry has been reviewed by Davenhill et al. (1997). Escort, glyphosate, Tordon Brushkiller and Trounce are suitable for spot treatment by knapsack and for application by brushgun; the first three can also be applied by mistblower. Escort, Tordon Brushkiller and Grazon are recommended for stump swabbing. For aerial application, glyphosate, Tordon Brushkiller and Trounce are recommended herbicides. Herbicide spraying is best carried out in spring and early summer when new growth is abundant, as mature leaves are moderately resistant to herbicides.

Small seedlings can also be uprooted by hand, but this method is labour intensive and quickly becomes impractical as seedlings develop, because the deep root system firmly anchors the plant. Grazing by goats gives effective control in pasture (Holst & Campbell 1987), but because of economic reasons this is now not practical; it is not an option elsewhere because goats are highly destructive, generalist browsers. In general, a well-managed stock grazing regime will prevent barberry seedlings from establishing in pasture, and the few plants that survive can be easily killed by a herbicide treatment.

4.2 Taxonomic status of *Berberis* and its relatives in New Zealand

The ability of natural enemies to attack new hosts is strongly influenced by the evolutionary history of those potential hosts (Briese 1996), so in any biological control programme it is essential to understand the relationships between the target plant and its relatives, particularly those that are economically or culturally significant. *Berberis* is in the family Berberidaceae; in New Zealand there are no indigenous genera in this family, and only one other adventive genus, *Mahonia. Berberis* and *Mahonia* are very closely related (Kim & Jansen 1994; Laferriere 1997; Laferriere & Ahrendt 1997); indeed, *Mahonia* is often combined with *Berberis* (Landrum 1999). The main distinguishing feature of *Berberis* and *Mahonia* is that the former has simple leaves whereas the latter has compound leaves.

The species of *Berberis* have been grouped into two subgenera: Septentrionales, with about 300 species, has a Eurasian distribution; and Australes, with about 200 species, originates from South America (Schneider 1905 and Ahrendt 1906, quoted in Landrum 1999). The subgenera have been further divided into sections and subsections, but these appear to be based on geographical distribution and it is not known whether they have any phylogenetic basis (Landrum 1999).

Several other species and hybrids of *Berberis* are cultivated in New Zealand, and common names have sometimes been misapplied (Webb et al. 1988), but these issues have little relevance for the purposes of this report.

4.3 Steps necessary for a biological control programme for barberry

The steps necessary for a classical biological control programme have been well discussed by Harley and Forno (1992) and Forno (1997). Some of these steps have already been undertaken; others have been partially addressed and some, because they occur later in the programme, cannot yet be actioned.

The first step is to initiate the programme. This covers processes such as reviewing the problem and identifying—and if possible resolving—conflicts of interest relating to whether the plant's weedy characteristics outweigh its useful characteristics. In New Zealand, the only issue concerns that of the ornamental species of *Berberis* and *Mahonia* that are still sold and grown. This step also encompasses reviews of current knowledge on the biology and ecology of the weed and its natural enemies, and identification of any attempts at biological control. Much of this has been achieved with this report.

The second step is to gain approval and funding for work on the weed. This would be a matter for Regional Councils to negotiate among themselves, as approval from the Emvironmental Risk Management Authority (ERMA) would not be needed until later in the process.

Step three encompasses the procedures necessary to identify candidate agents in the target plant's native range. This would require surveys of *B. darwinii* in Chile and southern Argentina, and of *B. glaucocarpa* in the western Himalaya¹ to identify the plant's natural

¹ Given the current political situation in this region in late 2001–early 2002, the programme for *B. glaucocarpa* might have to be delayed.

enemies, then prioritisation of those considered worthy of further investigation. Because seed dispersal is the major reason for the weeds' invasiveness, particular, but not exclusive, effort should be given to identifying agents that attack flowers and fruits. Landcare Research could undertake this work either directly or in collaboration with overseas researchers. A likely time frame for this would be 2 years.

The fourth step, to survey the fauna of barberry in New Zealand, could proceed concurrently with step three, and would best be conducted by Landcare Research, which has extensive experience and expertise in these surveys.

Step five, while not essential, is highly recommended. It comprises ecological studies of the weed and its natural enemies, and it has two parts. The first is to compare the ecology of the weed in its native range with its ecology in New Zealand, to gain insight into why it is a weed here; what factors are likely to limit its distribution here; and to improve further the understanding of whether biological control is a good option. These studies could begin at any stage before the release of any agent in New Zealand; top priority would be *B. darwinii* because its range is expanding more rapidly than that of *B. glaucocarpa*.

The second part of step five is to study the ecology of potential biological control agents to help predict whether they would successfully establish in New Zealand and their possible impacts on the weed. For *B. darwinii* this would have to take place in Chile or Argentina and for *B. glaucocarpa* in the western Himalaya. These studies could be coordinated by Landcare Research and the resulting information would contribute to any eventual application to ERMA to import agents.

Step six is to determine the host range of potential biological control agents. This is an essential step and must progress outside New Zealand until sufficient information is available to justify an application to ERMA to import the potential agent into quarantine for further host-range testing. Landcare Research could coordinate this overseas testing through its links with international researchers, as it has done previously for other biological control agents.

The next step is to gain approval to import agents into quarantine for further host range testing. An application to ERMA would be prepared and submitted by one or more affected regional councils, possibly supported by other interested agencies such as DOC and forestry companies. Landcare Research would not be an applicant, and its role in this process would be to provide expert technical advice. However, if approval for importation into quarantine was granted, Landcare Research could complete the New Zealand host range testing. For these two steps, the balance of overseas host-range testing cf. New Zealand testing in quarantine depends on several factors, particularly the characteristics of the plants and putative agents. In total, these steps are likely to take 3-5 years.

On completion of host-range testing, a further application to ERMA would be required; this would seek approval for the release in New Zealand of any suitable agents. Again, Landcare Research would not apply for this permission; instead, regional councils and/or DOC would drive this process.

If ERMA was to grant approval for the release of one or more agents for control of barberry, these agents would normally have to be cage-reared in quarantine through at least one generation, first, to ensure that the founding individuals carried no diseases or parasitoids, and second, to rear sufficient individuals for field releases. The number of generations

required to achieve these goals, and hence the time needed, is difficult to determine because we know nothing of the biology of some potential agents. A minimum period would be 1 year, but a more likely estimate is 2–3 years.

Although straightforward programmes may take as little as 5 years, a realistic estimate of the overall time frame from a decision to proceed with a biological control programme for barberry to the widespread release of the first agent in New Zealand would be 6-10 years.

The final steps in a biological control programme overlap considerably, and comprise a substantial effort to mass-rear and release the agent, and research to determine how well it is establishing and what impact it is having on the weed problem. For most weeds, these steps generally take many years, with the major effort occurring over an initial 3–5 year period.

4.4 Potential agents for biological control of barberry

Pathogens

In New Zealand, *Rigidoporus vinctus*, the causal agent of Junghuhnia root disease, has been recorded on *B. glaucocarpa*. It is saprophytic in indigenous forests, but parasitic on *B. glaucocarpa* and some commercially important trees, including *Pinus radiata* (Dick 1987; Hood & Dick 1988; McKenzie 1999).

Overseas, three species of *Microsphaera* have been recorded from *Berberis* spp. These are *M. euonymi*, which also infects roses (Chauvel et al. 1999); *M. berberidis* var. *berberidis*, which was recorded also from a species of *Mahonia* (Czerniawska & Madej 1998); and *Microsphaera thaxteri*, which was described from *Berberis buxifolia* (Havrylenko & Braun 1998). *Aecidium berberidis* (barberry rust) has caused serious damage to *B. vulgaris* in Iran (Karimi et al. 1997). Several species of the rust genus *Puccinia* also infect *Berberis* spp. overseas but some are heteroecious², with life histories that include economically important grasses and cereals as alternate hosts. For example, *B. vulgaris* is an alternate host for wheat rust, *Puccinia graminis* (Lekomtseva et al. 1996), and significant control of this disease in the U.S.A. and Canada has been attributed partly to an extensive programme of barberry eradication using herbicides and physical removal (Schafer et al. 1993). However, *P. berberidis-darwinii* and *P. mayeri-alberti* are all autoecious³ on *B. darwinii*, and a new species, *P. minshanensis*, has recently been recorded from *Berberis* sp.. The biology of these species and their effects on the host plant have not been studied (Johnston 1990; Zhuang & Wei 1999).

In India, *B. vulgaris* is also infected by the leaf spot fungus *Pseudocercospora berberis-vulgarae* Gautam et al. 1983) and by *Lanzia parasitica*, which causes severe leaf drop (Dumont 1978), but the potential of these for biological control of barberry is not known (Johnston 1990).

Invertebrates

The fruit fly *Rhagoletis meigenii* (Diptera: Tephritidae) has been recorded from *B. vulgaris* in Belgium (Leclercq 1998). In Poland, the eriophyid mites *Eriophyes caliberberis* and *Aceria* sp. attacked *B. thunbergii* (Soika & Labonowski 1998); *Lasioptera* sp. (Diptera:

² Heteroecious: passing different stages of the life history in different hosts.

³ Autoecious: passing all stages of the life history in the same host.

Cecidomyiidae) attacks, deforms and reduces the size of fruits of *B. chitryia* in India (Grover & Jaiswal 1993).

In the Netherlands, a sawfly, *Arge berberidis* (Hymenoptera: Argidae) infests *B. thunbergii*, causing sufficient damage to be regarded as a pest. Larvae were seen to migrate to nearby *Mahonia aquifolium* and complete their development on that species, so there is some question about its host specificity (van Frankenhuyzen & Blommers 2000). *A. berberidis* appears to be expanding its distribution (Magis 1999). A eulophid parasitoid, *Cirrospilus vittatus* (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae), has been recorded from eggs of *A. berberidis*.

Heavy infestations of the aphid *Liosomaphis berberidis* (Homoptera: Aphididae) on *B. vulgaris* in Poland resulted in discoloration, curling and premature fall of leaves, as well as harmful and disfiguring fungal attack due to honeydew emissions (Jaskiewicz 1995, 1996); *L. berberidis* also attacks *B. thunbergii* (Labanowski 1990). *L. berberidis* is present in New Zealand, where it has been recorded only from *B. glaucocarpa* (Dale & Maddison 1982). Overseas, *L. berberidis* is attacked by the parasitic mite *Allothrombium pulvinum* (Acari: Trombidiidae) (Zhang, 1996, 1997); this mite has not been recorded from New Zealand (Ramsay 1980). Alates (winged forms) of *Aphis fabae* and *Anoecia corni* ((Homoptera: Aphididae) have also been recorded from *B. vulgaris* but these were considered accidental occurrences (Jaskiewicz 1995).

In New Zealand other insects recorded from *Berberis* spp. include the aphid *Aulacorthum solani* (Homoptera: Aphididae), the mussel scale *Lepidosaphes ulmi*, the grass grub beetle *Costelytra zealandica* (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) and caterpillars of *Ctenopseustis herana*, *C. obliquana*, *Epiphyas postvittana*, *Planotortrix excessana*, *P. notophaea*, *P. octo* (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) and *Pseudocoremia suavis* (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) (Allen & Wilson 1992; Dale & Maddison 1982; HortResearch 2002b). All these species are polyphagous and have no potential as biological control agents for barberry; moreover, many are horticultural pests and barberry is therefore a potential reservoir for infestation of crops (HortResearch 2002b).

4.5 **Prospects for achieving successful biological control of barberry**

There are no current or past biological control programmes against any species of Berberis.

While none of the species of *Berberis* in New Zealand have been systematically surveyed for pests or pathogens, it seems that natural enemies have little effect on the plant and in particular place few or no constraints on flower or fruit production (Allen & Wilson 1992). Overseas, however, the fungi *Aecidium berberidis* and *Lanzia parasitica* have caused significant damage to *B. vulgaris*, while the cecidomyiid midge *Lasioptera* sp. and the sawfly *Arge berberidis* damage some *Berberis* spp. This suggests that the potential for introducing agents that would reduce the vigour and production of viable seeds of barberry species in New Zealand is good. Other fungi and invertebrates also attack the plant, but the extent of damage they cause is not clear; nevertheless, the pool of potential agents is likely to be large, particularly in light of the genus' wide distribution.

Prospects are further improved by the lack of closely related genera in New Zealand, so there is less requirement for prospective agents to be restricted to just one, or very few, species within *Berberis*. Whether damage to the ornamental species of *Berberis* and *Mahonia* should exclude prospective agents is arguable, but it is worth noting the potential for those

ornamental species to become serious weeds -a clear example is *B. thunbergii* which is an invasive weed in the North America but is still sold as an ornamental in New Zealand.

For *B. darwinii*, particular emphasis should be given to searching for agents that reduce the production of viable seeds, because its range is expanding rapidly. However, the precise role of seed production in determining local abundance of *Berberis* spp. in New Zealand has not been determined, and agents that affect other stages of the plant's life history may also prove to be important for effective control.

Given the likelihood that highly host-specific, pathogenic fungi may be identified, development of a mycoherbicide for *B*. darwinii and *B*. *glaucocarpa* is an option. This would have two major benefits. First, if the mycoherbicide persisted in a viable form for several years, so that it killed emerging seedlings throughout that period, it would have a distinct advantage over conventional herbicides. Second, it would pose no risk to other vegetation, so would have the potential to be applied aerially over native forest and scrub.

5. Conclusions

Prospects appear good for a biological control programme directed at *B. darwinii* and *B. glaucocarpa*. There are no indigenous Berberidaceae in New Zealand and no important exotic members of the family, so that prospective agents need not be restricted to attacking only the adventive species of *Berberis*. Several fungi and invertebrate species are known to attack *Berberis* species and some of these cause significant damage to the plant; furthermore, since *Berberis* is a large genus the prospects for locating biological control agents are good. Classical biological control and mycoherbicides are both likely prospects.

6. Recommendations

- Survey populations of *B. darwinii* and *B. glaucocarpa* in different seasons throughout the species' known ranges in New Zealand to determine which invertebrates and diseases are currently associated with these species in New Zealand (likely cost \$50,000 in total over 2 years);
- Survey *B. darwinii* and other *Berberis* species in Chile and Argentina to identify prospective biological control agents (likely cost \$50,000 in total over 2 years);
- Survey *B. glaucocarpa* and other *Berberis* species in the western Himalaya to identify prospective biological control agents (likely cost \$50,000 in total over 2 years);
- On completion of each overseas survey, review the prospects for successful biological control of that species and, if appropriate, prepare a costed programme for consideration by affected regional councils and DOC.

7. Acknowledgements

I am grateful to Chris Buddenhagen, Keith Crothers, Paul Hatton, Lynley Hayes, and Muzz Nieuwenhuyse for their help with this report.

8. References

- Allen, R.B.; Wilson, J.B. 1992: Fruit and seed production in *Berberis darwinii* Hook., a shrub recently naturalised in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Botany 30*: 45–55.
- Anon. 1999: Invasive Plant Information Sheet: Japanese Barberry *Berberis thunbergii* Barberry Family (Berberidaceae). http://www.eeb.uconn.edu/cipwg/art_pubs/ DEP/pdf/p_japbarb.pdf
- Anon. 2001: Regional plant pest management strategy. Palmerston North, horizons.mw. 174 p.
- Birdsall, T. C.; Kelly, G. S. 1997: Berberine: therapeutic potential of an alkaloid found in several medicinal plants. *Alternative Medicine Review* 2: 94–103.
- Briese, D.T. 1996: Phylogeny: can it help us to understand host choice by biological weed control agents? *In*: Moran, V.C. and Hoffmann, J.H. *eds* Proceedings of the IX International Symposium on Biological Control of Weeds, 19–26 January 1996, Stellenbosch, South Africa, University of Cape Town Pp. 63–70.
- Chauvel, G.; Jumeau, N.; Brustel, M. 1999: Utilisation des huiles fongicides en espaces verts. *PHM Revue Horticole 403*: 31–36.
- Czerniawska, B.; Madej, T. 1998: Maczniaki prawdziwe wystepujace na berberysie, mahonii i snieguliczce w polnocno-zachodniej Polsce *Ochrona Roslin* 42: 12.
- Dale, P.S.; Maddison, P. A. 1982: New Zealand Insects and their Host Plants. Compiled by: D.M. Spiller & K.A.J. Wise. Wellington, DSIR Science Information Division. 260 p.
- Davenhill, N.A.; Ray, J.W.; Vanner, A.L. 1997: Forest Weed Control Manual a guide to herbicide use in forests. FRI Bulletin No. 180 (2nd edition). Rotorua, New Zealand Forest Research Institute.
- Dick, M. 1987: Junghuhnia root disease. *Forest Pathology in New Zealand 18*. Rotorua, New Zealand Forest Research Institute. 4 p.
- Dumont, K.P. 1978: Sclerotiniaceae. XIII. An undescribed species on *Berberis*. *Mycologia* 70: 61–67.
- Ehrenfeld, J.G. 1997: Invasion of deciduous forest preserves in the New York metropolitan region by Japanese barberry (*Berberis thunbergii* DC.). *Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 124*: 210–215.

- Forno, I.W. 1997: Procedures in biological control of weeds. *In*: Julien, M.; White, G. *eds* Biological control of weeds: theory and practical application. *ACIAR Monograph 49*.
 Canberra, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research. Pp. 47–49.
- Gautam, S.P.; Rajak, R.K.; Malaviya, N. 1983: A new species of *Pseudocercospora* from India. *Current Science* 52: 315.
- Grover, P.; Jaiswal, V. 1993: Biological notes on *Lasioptera* sp. (Cecidomyiidae: Diptera). *Cecidologia Internationale 13&14*: 125–134.
- Harley, K.L.S.; Forno, I.W. 1992: Biological control of weeds: a handbook for practitioners and students. Melbourne & Sydney, Inkata Press. 74 p.
- Havrylenko, M.; Braun, U. 1998: Four new species and a new record of Erysiphaceae from Argentina. *Nova Hedwigia* 66: 513–522.
- Holst, P.J.; Campbell, M.H. 1987: The role of goats in the control of weeds of pastures. *In*Wheeler, J.L., Pearson, C.J.; Robards, G.E. *eds*. Temperate pastures: their
 production, use and management. Australian Wool Corporation technical publication.
 Pp. 262–263.
- Hood, I. A.; Dick, M. A. 1988: *Junghuhnia vincta* (Berkeley) comb. nov., root pathogen of *Pinus radiata*. *New Zealand Journal of Botany* 26: 113–116.
- HortResearch 2002a: Vigilant Research Trials. Internet site: http://www.hortresearch.co.nz/ bet/products/vigilant/trials/
- HortResearch 2002b: BugKEY: Insects and mites of pipfruit and stonefruit: http://www. hortnet.co.nz/key
- Itani, T.; Hirai, K.; Fujii, Y.; Kohda, H.; Tamaki, M. 1998: Screening for allelopathic activity among weeds and medicinal plants using the "sandwich method". *Journal of Weed Science and Technology* 43: 258–266.
- Jaskiewicz, B. 1995: Obserwacje nad liczebnoscia *Liosomaphis berberidis* Kalt. na *Berberis vulgaris* L. w latach 1989-1991. *Annales Universitatis Mariae Curie Sklodowska 3*: 219–225.
- Jaskiewicz, B. 1996: Mszyca kwasnicowa szkodnik berberysu zwyczajnego. *Ochrona Roslin 40*: 9.
- Johnston, P.R. 1990: Potential of fungi for the biological control of some New Zealand weeds. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 33*: 1–14.
- Karimov, A. 1993: Berberis alkaloids. Chemistry of Natural Compounds 29: 415–438.
- Kim, Y.D.; Jansen, R.K. 1994: Characterization and phylogenetic distribution of a chloroplast DNA rearrangement in the Berberidaceae. *Plant Systematics and Evolution 193*: 107–114.

- Labanowski, G. 1990: Szkodniki roslin ozdobnych: mszyca kwasnicowa *Liosomaphis* berberidis (Kaltenbach) syn. *Aphis berberidis* Kalt. Ochrona Roslin 34: 24.
- Laferriere, J.E. 1997: Transfer of specific and infraspecific Old World taxa from *Mahonia* to *Berberis. Fragmenta Floristica et Geobotanica* 42: 349–354.
- Landrum, L.R. 1999: Revision of *Berberis* (Berberidaceae) in Chile and adjacent southern Argentina. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden* 86: 793–834.
- Leclercq, M. 1998: A propos de *Rhagoletis meigenii* (Loew, 1844) (Diptera Tephritidae). Bulletin and Annales de la Societe Royale Belge d'Entomologie 134: 131–132.
- Lekomtseva, S.N.; Chaika, M.N.; Volkova, V.T. 1996: Isoenzyme contents of some formae speciales of *Puccinia graminis* Pers. *Mikologiya i Fitopatologiya 30*: 35–38.
- Liu, C.; Beecher, C. W.W.; Zhao, S. X. 1995: A benzylisoquinoline alkaloid from *Berberis* virgetorum. Journal of Natural Products 58: 1100–1102.
- MAF 2001: National Pest Plant Accord. http://www.maf.govt.nz/biosecurity/pestsdiseases/plants/accord.htm#s1
- Magis, N. 1999: Apports a la chorologie des Hymenopteres Symphytes de Belgique et du Grand-Duche de Luxembourg. XX. *Bulletin de la Societe Royale Belge d'Entomologie 135*: 159–163.
- McCall, D.L.C.; Alexander, J.; Barber, J.; Jaouhari, R.G.; Satoskar, A.; Waigh, R.D. 1994: The first protoberberine alkaloid analogue with in vivo antimalarial activity. *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters 4*: 1663–1666.
- McKenzie, E. 1999: New Zealand Plant Diseases Database. http://www.marc.landcare. cri.nz/science/nzpddb
- Oates, M. 1998: Weed control strategies in Wellington's parks. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Biosecurity Institute 48th National Education and Training Seminar. Wellington, New Zealand*: 46.
- Ramsay, G.W. 1980: Common and scientific names of New Zealand mites *DSIR Information Series No. 139.* Wellington; DSIR. 32 p.
- Roy, B.; Popay, I.; Champion, P.; James, T.; Rahman, A. 1998: An illustrated guide to common weeds of New Zealand. Lincoln, New Zealand Plant Protection Society. 282 p.
- Schafer, J.F.; Roelfs, A.P.; McVey, D.V.; Long, D.L.; Hughes, M.; Leonard, K.J.; Jacobs, T.; Parlevliet, J.E. 1993: Durable control of stem rust (*Puccinia graminis* f.sp. *tritici*) in North American spring wheat. *Current Plant Science and Biotechnology in Agriculture 18*: 344.

- Sheng, W.D.; Jiddawi, M.S.; Hong, X.Q.; Abdulla, S.M. 1997: Treatment of chloroquineresistant malaria using pyrimethamine in combination with berberine, tetracycline or cotrimoxazole. *East African Medical Journal* 74: 283–284.
- Soika, G.; Labanowski, G. 1998: Nowe gatunki szpecieli (Eriophyoidea) w szkolkach roslin ozdobnych. *Progress in Plant Protection 38*: 416–418.
- van Frankenhuyzen, A.; Blommers, L.H.M. 2000: *Arge berberidis*, een oprukkende bladwesp in Nederland (Hymenoptera: Argidae). [*Arge berberidis*, an invasive sawfly in the Netherlands (Hymenoptera: Argidae)] *Entomologische Berichten 60*: 181–184.
- Vervoort, L.; Hennessy, C. 1997: National Surveillance Plant Pests: Plants prohibited from propagation, sale and distribution. Auckland, New Zealand, Auckland Regional Council. 40 p.
- Ward, B.G.; Henzell, R.F.; Holland, P.T.; Spiers, A.G. 1999: Non-spray methods to control invasive weeds in urban areas. *Proceedings of the 52nd New Zealand Plant Protection Conference*: 1–5.
- Webb, C.J.; Sykes, W.R.; Garnock-Jones, P.J. 1988: Flora of New Zealand. Volume IV. Naturalised Pteridophytes, Gymnosperms, Dicotyledons. Christchurch, New Zealand, Botany Division, DSIR. 1365 p.
- Wellington Regional Council 2001: Darwin's Barberry Pretty but a Pest. Internet site: http://www.wrc.govt.nz/communications/press.cfm?ID=243
- Williams, P.A.; Karl, B.J.; Bannister, P.; Lee, W.G. 2000: Small mammals as potential seed dispersers in New Zealand. *Austral Ecology* 25: 523–532.
- Zhang, Z.-Q. 1996: Parasitism of aphids (Homoptera: Aphididae) by larvae of Allothrombium pulvinum (Acari: Trombidiidae): Host species selection, host size selection, and superparasitism. Systematic and Applied Acarology 1: 55–63.
- Zhang, Z.-Q. 1997: Attachment sites of *Allothrombium pulvinum* larvae (Acari: Trombidiidae) ectoparasitic on aphid hosts. *Systematic and Applied Acarology 2*: 115–120.
- Zhuang, J.Y.; Wei, S.X. 1999: Materials for study on rust fungi of eastern rimland of Qinghai-Xizang (Tibet) Plateau VI. Two new species of *Puccinia*. *Mycosystema* 18: 117–120.